# Switching Systems Controllability and Control Design

Final Report on EOARD Award No. FA8655-08-1-3016 1 May 2008-30 April 2009

József Bokor, Péter Gáspár and Zoltán Szabó Computer and Automation Research Institute, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Kende u. 13–17., H–1111 Budapest, Hungary, bokor@sztaki.hu, gaspar@sztaki.hu, szaboz@decst.scl.sztaki.hu

April 25, 2009

REPORT DO	CUMENTATION PAGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188	
Public reporting burden for this collection of informatic maintaining the data needed, and completing and rev	n is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including t viewing the collection of information. Send comments rea	he time for r arding this b	] eviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and jurden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information.	
including suggestions for reducing the burden, to Dep Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302.	partment of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any of	Directorate ther provision	for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson n of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply	
with a collection of information if it does not display a construction of the plane	urrently valid OMB control number.			
1. REPORT DATE ( <i>DD-MM-YYYY</i> ) 20-05-2009	2. REPORT TYPE Final Report		3. DATES COVERED (From – To) 25 April 2008 - 07-Jul-09	
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE	·	5a. CO	NTRACT NUMBER	
Switching Systems: Controllability	y and Control Design		FA8655-08-1-3016	
		5b. GR	ANT NUMBER	
		5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER		
6. AUTHOR(S)		5d. PR	OJECT NUMBER	
Professor Jozsef Bokor				
		5d. TA	SK NUMBER	
		5e. WC	DRK UNIT NUMBER	
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME Computer and Automation Resea	(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) arch Institute, Hungarian Academy of Science		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER	
Kende u. 13-17. Budapest H-1111			N/A	
Hungary				
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY	NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)	
EOARD				
APO AE 09421			11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)	
			Grant 08-3016	
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATE	EMENT			
Approved for public release: distribut	ion is unlimited			
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES				
14 ABSTRACT				
Metivated by the need of dealing with physic	and average that avhibit a marg complicated ha	haviar the	a these permally described by alcosical continuous	
and discrete time domains, hybrid systems	are getting very popular nowadays. Hybrid syste	ems, i.e., h	neterogeneous systems that exhibit both continuous	
and discrete dynamics, are abundant in e operating modes where each mode is gove	ssentially all areas of engineering and scienti rned by its own characteristic dynamical laws.	ific endea Mode tra	vor. Hybrid systems can switch between different nsitions are triggered by variables crossing specific	
thresholds (state events), by the lapse of ce	rtain time periods (time events), or by external in	nputs (inpu	ut events).	
Analysis, synthesis and real time impleme	ntation of feedback control algorithms for hybrid to be topic is focused on new methodologies for	rid system	is are key issues facing the control and computer	
various constraints, such as mixture of logi	c and continuous variables, signal quantization	, bandwic	th limitation, distributed- sensing and computation,	
algorithms that provide control algorithms is	still lacking.	espite the	numerous papers on the topic enicient numerical	
In particular, there has been a relevant into	erest in the analysis and synthesis of so-called	switching	g systems intended as the simplest class of hybrid	
systems. Unlike general hybrid systems, whe	ere the trajectories are allowed to have discont m switching system is used to describe system	inuous jur s in which	nps due to some change in either the continuous or the change of some operative mode maintains the	
continuity of the flow of the solution even the	hough not its smoothness. A switching system	is compos	ed of a family of different (smooth) dynamic modes	
time instant.		, 11 13 0330	and that one and only one mode is delive at each	
We consider two classes of switches: switch	ches-on-time and switches-on-state. The switch	ning-on-tin	ne is clearly the simplest of the two and, using the	
terminology above, it can be considered as (switching from one element to another or	an intrinsic (or endogenous) switching scheme i ne of the family of vector fields) without need	n the sens to check	se that it involves only changes in the tangent space what happens on the flow of the solution. In the	
endogenous switching case one assumes to the switching pattern, i.e., which of the syste	o have complete control over the time of switch ms is activated(selected) in the switching event	, i.e., the t	time instant in which the switching occurs, and over	
The switching on state is more complicate	d in fact it requires a shock on the integral a		a system in order to decide when to pass from a	
dynamic mode to another one (exogenou	s switching). It is an obvious but important	observatio	on that any switching-on-state path has a unique	
corresponding switching-on-time path, how	ever these switching times and switching patter	rns depen	d on the state. This type of switching will be called	

Ι

Г

#### closed-loop switching.

Controllability of switching systems has been investigated mostly for the linear case, i.e., when the dynamics in the given modes are linear time invariant (LTI) and the case when arbitrary switching is possible (open--loop switching). By using geometric methods and imbedding linear switching systems in the class of the linear parameter varying systems (LPV) we have obtained controllability results [P1][P5].

In contrast, bimodal systems are special classes of switching systems, where the switch from one mode to the other one depends on the state (closed-loop switching). In the simplest case the switching condition is described by a hypersurface in the state space.

The first result about controllability of bimodal systems was given in [R5], where using tools of the geometric control theory a small time local null controllability condition was given. Bimodal systems with single input and dynamics continuous on the switching surface were considered in [R3]. Although the approaches of the two papers used quite different mathematical tools both of the solutions share the characteristics that they assume unconstrained controllability in directions orthogonal to the switching hypersurface.

#### 15. SUBJECT TERMS

EOARD, Navigation, Comunications & Guidance, Complex Systems

16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:		17. LIMITATION OF	18, NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON	
a. REPORT UNCLAS	b. ABSTRACT UNCLAS	c. THIS PAGE UNCLAS	UL	53	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)
					+44 (0)1895 616187

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8/98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39-18

# Contents

1	Introduction						
<b>2</b>	Met	thods, Assumptions and Procedures	6				
	2.1	Switching systems and vector fields	7				
	2.2	Lie saturate	8				
	2.3	Normal controllability	10				
	2.4	Global controllability	11				
	2.5	Stabilizability and asymptotic controllability	13				
	2.6	Convex processes	14				
	2.7	Bimodal systems	15				
3	$\operatorname{Res}$	Results and Discussions					
	3.1	Finite number of switchings, sampling	19				
	3.2	Controllability analysis of					
		linear switching systems					
		with sign constrained inputs	22				
	3.3 Stabilizability of completely controllable linear switching						
		tems	25				
		3.3.1 Periodic switching sequence	31				
		3.3.2 Event–driven stabilization	33				
		3.3.3 The general stabilizability problem	34				
	3.4	Controllability analysis of					
		bimodal systems	35				
	3.5	Stabilizability of bimodal systems	38				
<b>4</b>	Cor	nclusions	40				

# Summary

This report investigates controllability of linear time invariant (LTI) switching systems that are controlled using nonnegative inputs. The report gives some algebraic conditions that guarantees global controllability for this class of systems. It is shown that if the system is globally controllable then the number of necessary switchings to control the system is bounded.

As an application controllability conditions for a class of bimodal linear time invariant (LTI) systems are also given. For a certain class of bimodal systems it is shown that controllability is equivalent with controllability of an open–loop switching system using nonnegative controls, i.e. to the controllability of a constrained open–loop switching system.

The paper consider the (closed-loop) stabilizability problem of controlled linear switched systems. It is shown that if the switching system is completely controllable then it is stabilizable. Moreover, it is shown that for these systems a closed-loop (event driven) switching strategy can be found with suitable linear feedbacks that (weakly) stabilizes the system, i.e. the switching system is stabilizable by a generalized piecewise linear feedback. These results holds for systems where the control inputs are sign constrained, too.

It is shown that the completely controllable sampled switching systems with unconstrained inputs can be robustly stabilized (against disturbances and model uncertainties) with suitable linear state feedbacks and a periodic switching strategy. The switching strategy and the feedback gains – by solving a suitable set of linear matrix inequalities (LMI) – can be computed.

# Chapter 1 Introduction

Motivated by the need of dealing with physical systems that exhibit a more complicated behavior that those normally described by classical continuous and discrete time domains, hybrid systems have become very popular nowadays. In particular, there has been a relevant interest in the analysis and synthesis of so-called *switching systems* intended as the simplest class of hybrid systems.

A switching system is composed of a family of different (smooth) dynamic modes such that the switching pattern gives continuous, piecewise smooth trajectories. Moreover, we assume that one and only one mode is active at each time instant.

Controllability of switching systems has been investigated mostly for the case when arbitrary switching is possible (open-loop switching) and the objective is to design a proper switching sequence to ensure controllability or stability of (usually) piecewise linear systems, see [1],[69],[85],[88] or [67] for recurrent neural networks. Usually the input set  $\Omega$  is assumed to be unconstrained, i.e.  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^m$ .

Bimodal systems are special classes of switching systems, where the switch from one mode to the other one depends on the state (closed-loop switching). In the simplest case the switching condition is described by a hypersurface C in the state space. It turns out that for a certain class of bimodal systems controllability question can be reduced to the problem of controllability of sign constrained open-loop switching systems, i.e., the case when  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}_+$ , see [13]. The multi-input case is typical in process engineering applications where the inputs cannot be negative due to physical reasons.

One of the most elementary constrained controllability problems is that

of the SISO LTI system, with nonnegative inputs, i.e.,  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^+$ , see [56] for details. The multi-input LTI case, i.e., a special sign constrained switching problem, was solved in [16] and [39], for further insights see [76],[53], [27]. Constrained controllability results for the linear time varying case with continuous right hand side can be found e.g. in [57].

From practical point of view it is important to know if controllability can be performed using a finite number of switchings. It is known that for the unconstrained case and for the constrained case when the small time controllability property holds or the dynamics is continuous the answer is affirmative, [43],[70],[40], moreover in all these cases there exist a bound for the number of switchings.

This report focuses on the controllability problem of LTI switching systems driven by sign constrained control, i.e., the case when  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^m_+$ . After recalling some fundamental results from geometrical control theory it will be proved that if the system is globally controllable then one can always use a finite number of switching, moreover, as in the unconstrained situation, the number of necessary switchings is bounded.

The second part of the report provides a global controllability condition that can be used for input sign constrained systems. In contrast to the unconstrained problem where pure Lie algebraic methods can be used effectively to obtain global controllability conditions, in the input sign constrained problem methods borrowed from the theory of convex processes have been proved to be efficient in obtaining global controllability condition formulated in algebraic terms.

Stability issues of switched systems, especially switched linear systems, have been of increasing interest in the recent decade, see for example [22], [44], [45], [46], [48], [70].

In the study of the stability of switched systems one may consider switched systems under given switching signals or tries to synthesise stabilizing switching signals for a given collection of dynamical systems. Concerning the first class a lot of papers focus on the asymptotic stability analysis for switched homogeneous linear systems under arbitrary switching (strong stability, robust stabilization), and provide necessary and sufficient conditions, see [9], [42], [51].

The requirement of (robust) stability imposes very strict conditions on the dynamics, e.g. all the subsystems must be stable or stabilizable. Even under this condition, one has, in general, further restrictions on the allowable switching frequency (dwell time), determined by the spectrum of the matrices, [82], [81].

For strongly stabilizable linear controlled switching systems the feedback control always can be chosen as a "patchy", linear variable structure controller, see [9]. The control is defined by a conic partition  $\mathbb{R}^n = \bigcup_{k=1}^N \mathcal{C}_k$  of the state space while on each cone  $\mathcal{C}_k$  the feedback is given by  $u = F_k x$ .

In the more general situation, when one has unstable modes, more severe conditions on the switching sequence have to be imposed. In this respect one of the most elusive problems is the switching stabilizability problem, i.e., under what condition is it possible to stabilize a switched system by properly designing autonomous (event driven) switching control laws. For autonomous switchings the vector field changes discontinuously when the state hits certain "boundaries". This problem corresponds to the weak asymptotic stability notion of the associated differential inclusions.

Based on the ideas presented in [52] it was proved that the (weak) asymptotic stabilizability of switched autonomous linear systems by means of an event driven switching strategy can be formulated in terms of a conic partition of the state space, see [47],[49]. This result can be seen as a generalization of the corresponding theorem for strong stability. However, in contrast to the strong stability results, the corresponding Lyapunov function is not always convex, see [11].

Completely controllable linear time invariant (LTI) systems  $\dot{x} = Ax + Bu$ are stabilizable and the stabilization can be always done by a static state feedback u = Kx. Similar result, with a suitable set of linear state feedbacks, is valid for the case when the inputs are sign constrained, see [60], [80].

This report gives a generalization of these fundamental results for the weak stabilizability of the class of completely controllable linear switching systems, where the control inputs might be sign constrained, i.e. it is shown that a completely controllable linear switching system is closed–loop stabilizable, moreover, the stabilization can be performed by using a generalized piecewise linear feedback.

For the class of sampled unconstrained linear switching systems a practical algorithm based on LMIs is given for the computation of the stabilizing switching strategy and stabilizing feedback gains.

# Chapter 2

# Methods, Assumptions and Procedures

Consider the class of (open-loop)linear switched systems:

$$\dot{x}(t) = A(\sigma(t))x(t) + B(\sigma(t))u(t)$$
(2.1)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the state variable,  $u \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^m$  is the input variable and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^p$  is the output variable.  $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^+ \to S$  is a measurable switching function mapping the positive real line into  $S = \{1, \dots, s\}$ , i.e., the matrices  $A(\sigma)$ ,  $B(\sigma)$  and  $C(\sigma)$  are measurable.

A solution (Carathéodory) of (2.1) on an interval I is an almost everywhere differentiable function  $\varphi(t): I \to \mathbb{R}^n$  that satisfies (2.1) a.e. on I.

State  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is controllable at time  $t_0$ , if there exist a time instant  $t_f > t_0$ , a switching function  $\sigma : [t_0, t_f] \to S$ , and a bounded measurable input function  $u : [t_0, t_f] \to \mathbb{R}^m$  such that  $x(t_f; t_0, x, u, \sigma) = 0$ . The switching system (2.1) will be called *completely controllable* or shortly *controllable* if every state is controllable.

State  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is reachable at time  $t_0$ , if there exist a time instant  $t_f > t_0$ , a switching function  $\sigma : [t_0, t_f] \to S$ , and a bounded measurable input function  $u : [t_0, t_f] \to \mathbb{R}^m$  such that  $x(t_f; t_0, 0, u, \sigma) = x$ . The switching system (2.1) will be called *completely reachable* or shortly *reachable* if every state is reachable. We will term as reachability set the set of points reachable from the origin, and as controllability set the set of points from which the origin is reachable.

Following classical lines, (2.1) is said to be *globally controllable* if every point in the state space is reachable from any other point in the state space

by using bounded measurable controls and a suitable switching function.

**Remark 1** For unconstrained LTI systems it is reasonable to require that the columns of  $B_i$  to be linearly independent, see [84]. In the constrained case, however, we should require that the column vectors be conically independent.

As an example consider the system  $\dot{x} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} u$  with  $u \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$ . This system is globally controllable but it cannot be globally controlled by using only two, linearly independent, directions.

There is an infinite number of conically independent vectors if the dimension of the space is greater then two!

**Remark 2** For an LTI system the controllability and reachability sets coincides in the unconstrained case but they differ, in general, for the constrained case, compare e.g.  $\dot{x} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} u$  with  $u \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $u \in \mathbb{R}^2_+$ . In the later situation one has  $\mathcal{C} = \{(x_1, x_2) \mid x_1, x_2 \leq 0\}$  while  $\mathcal{R} = \{(x_1, x_2) \mid x_1, x_2 \geq 0\}$ .

Recall, that the reachability sets associated to a particular switching sequence are cones, and not subspaces not even convex cones in general, even in the unconstrained case! As an example consider the switching system defined  $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ 

by  $\{(A_1 = 0, B_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1\\1 \end{bmatrix}), (A_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0\\-1 & 0 & 0\\0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, 0)\}$  and the switching sequence

 $\sigma = (1, 2)$ . Observe, that in contrast to the general linear case, see [43], the attainability set at time T, i.e., the set of points that can be reached from  $x_0$  in exactly T time units, is not a convex cone, in general!

### 2.1 Switching systems and vector fields

A control system on a smooth *n*-dimensional manifold M is a collection  $\mathcal{F}$  of smooth vector fields depending on independent parameters  $w = [w_1, \cdots, w_m] \in$  $\Xi \subset \mathbb{R}^m$  called control inputs such that w(t) belongs to a suitable class of real valued functions  $\mathcal{W}$ , called admissible controls.

A switching system can be considered as a nonlinear polysystem of the form

$$\dot{x} = f(x(t), w(t)), \quad x(0) = 0$$
(2.2)

where in general, it is assumed that  $x \in M$  and f(., w),  $w \in \Xi$  is an analytic (smooth) vector field on M. It is supposed that M is an *n*-dimensional real analytic manifold (para-compact and connected).

In our case  $\Xi = S \times \Omega$  with  $f_w(x) = f(x(t), w(t)) = A_i x(t) + B_i u$  where w = (i, u). To system (2.2) can be associated in a natural way the collection of vector fields  $V_f = \{f_w | w \in \Xi\}$ , that can be used e.g. in a Lie algebraic treatment, quite suitable for unconstrained problems and small time local controllability problems.

Associated with the system (2.2), denote by  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}(x,t)$  the set of all elements attainable from x at time t. For each  $x \in M$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}(x) = \bigcup_{t \ge 0} \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}(x,t)$ .

The controlled differential equation (2.2), hence the switching system (2.1), is often seen as a differential inclusion. By the Filippov–Wažewski relaxation theorem the solution set of of the differential inclusion defined by (2.1) is dense in the set of relaxed solutions, i.e., the solutions of the differential inclusion whose right hand side is the convex hull of the original set valued map, see [5], [71],[18]. This implies that the corresponding attainable sets coincides. Hence, instead of the controllability problem defined for the original switching system (2.1) one can consider the controllability problem associated to the convexified differential inclusion  $\dot{x} \in A_c(x)$ , where

$$A_c(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_i (A_i x + B_i u)$$

and  $\alpha_i \ge 0$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_i = 1$ .

We would like to decide (global) controllability by just examining the vector fields that define a control system without the necessity of obtaining solutions of any kind of the given system. We have already seen that it is possible to "expand" the available vector fields, e.g. by convexification, without changing the system itself, obtaining equivalent descriptions of the same system.

The following section reveals that introducing more and more redundancy in this description – by enlarging the set of vector fields that describes the system, is very useful in deciding the controllability question.

#### 2.2 Lie saturate

The Lie bracket of two vector fields f and g is denoted by [f, g]. Under the Lie bracket, and the pointwise addition, the space of all analytic vector fields

on M becomes a Lie algebra;  $Lie(\mathcal{F})$  denotes the subalgebra generated by  $\mathcal{F}$ . For each  $q \in M$ ,  $Lie_q(\mathcal{F})$  is a subspace of  $T_qM$ , the tangent space of M at q. A set of vector fields  $\mathcal{F}$  on a connected smooth manifold M is called bracket-generating (full-rank) if  $Lie_q\mathcal{F} = T_qM$  for all  $q \in M$ .

Families of vector fields  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  are said to be (strongly) equivalent if  $Lie(\mathcal{F}) = Lie(\mathcal{G})$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}(q,T)} = \overline{\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{G}}(q,T)}$  for all  $q \in M$  and for all T > 0, where the overbar denotes the closure of the sets. The Lie Saturate  $LS(\mathcal{F})$  of a family of vector fields  $\mathcal{F}$  is the union of families strongly equivalent to  $\mathcal{F}$ .

In general it is difficult to construct the Lie saturate explicitly, however one can construct a completely ascending family of compatible vector fields – *Lie extension* – starting from a given set  $\mathcal{F}$  of vector fields. A vector field f is called compatible with the system  $\mathcal{F}$  if  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}\cup f}(q) \subset \overline{\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}(q)}$  for all  $q \in M$ . Since  $LS(\mathcal{F})$  is a closed convex positive cone in  $Lie(\mathcal{F})$ , a possibility to obtain compatible vector fields is extension by convexification, see [36]: for  $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{F}$  and any nonnegative functions  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in C^{\infty}(M)$  the vector fields  $\alpha_1 f_1 + \alpha_2 f_2$  is compatible with  $\mathcal{F}$ . If  $LS(\mathcal{F})$  contains a vector space  $\mathcal{V}$ , then  $Lie(\mathcal{V}) \subset LS(\mathcal{F})$ .

The importance of the Lie extension for controllability is given by the following result, [3]:

**Theorem 1** If  $\mathcal{F}$  is a bracket-generating system such that the positive convex cone generated by  $\mathcal{F}$ , i.e.,  $\operatorname{cone}(\mathcal{F}) = \{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i f_i \mid f_i \in \mathcal{F}, \alpha_i \in C^{\infty}(M), \alpha_i \geq 0, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$  is symmetric, i.e.,  $\operatorname{cone}(\mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{cone}(-\mathcal{F})$ , then  $\mathcal{F}$  is completely controllable.

For further details on the role of the Lie saturates on controllability see also Chapter 3, Theorem 12. of [36],[3].

**Remark 3** In view of these facts the set of vector fields  $\{A_ix + B_iu | u \in \Omega\}$ can be replaced, e.g., for the sign constrained case  $(\Omega = \mathbb{R}^m_+)$ , by the set  $\{A_ix + b | b \in \{0, \lambda e_j B_i, j = 1, \cdots, m\}\}$  where  $e_j$  are the canonical unit vectors of  $\mathbb{R}^m$  and  $\lambda > 0$ .

Equivalently the switching system (2.1) can be imbedded in the class of bilinear systems with sign constrained inputs of the form:  $\dot{x}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{(m+1)s-1} \lambda_k F_k(x)$ with  $\lambda_k \geq 0$  where  $F_{(m+1)l} = A_{l+1}x$  and  $F_{(m+1)l+j} = A_{l+1}x + e_j B_{l+1}$ , with  $l = 0, \dots s - 1$  and  $j = 1, \dots m$ .

This embedding gives new insight in the controllability of unconstrained switching systems, too, for details see e.g. Lemma 1 and Theorem 2 of [35].

In what follows it will be assumed that the systems are single input systems. This can be done, since an LTI system with m inputs can be viewed as a switching system formed by m single input systems (bang-bang property).

### 2.3 Normal controllability

A trajectory of the switching system (2.1) will be defined as follows: let x(t) be an absolutely continuous function. We say that x(t) is a (admissible) trajectory of the system (2.1) on  $[t_0, t_f]$  if there exists a finite subdivision  $t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_{N-1} < t_N = t_f$  of the interval  $[t_0, t_f]$ , such that on each subinterval  $(t_{k-1}, t_k)$  there exists an admissible function  $u_k$  such that one has  $\dot{x} = A_k x + B_k u_k$ .

Which function is considered as admissible, depends on the specific application. Usually it is fixed to be the set of piecewise constant functions, but could be the set of sufficiently smooth functions, too. This definition excludes problematic situations, like Zeno behavior.

Let us denote by  $F_w^t x_0$  the solution of the equation  $\xi = f_w(\xi), \, \xi(0) = x_0$ on the interval [0, t]. Then for a given vector field  $\mathcal{F}$  one can consider the trajectories (positive orbits) of the vector field, i.e.

$$\Phi_{\omega,\tau}^{q,T}(x_0) := F_{w_q}^{t_q} F_{w_{q-1}}^{t_{q-1}} \cdots F_{w_2}^{t_2} F_{w_1}^{t_1} x_0$$
(2.3)

where  $\tau = (t_1, t_2, \dots, t_q), t_i \ge 0$  with  $T = \sum_{j=1}^q t_j$  and  $f_{w_i} \in \mathcal{F}$  corresponding to the sequence of piecewise constant controls  $\omega = (w_1, w_2, \dots, w_q) \in \Xi^q$ .

For a switched linear system  $f_{w_i}(x) = A_{s_i}x + B_{s_i}u_i$ , with  $w_i = (s_i, u_i)$ . It is immediate that the trajectories of a switching system are the (positive) orbits of the control system defined by the associated vector field. We will suppress the switching sequence  $\sigma = (s_1, s_2, \cdots, s_q)$  from the notation and denote the flow by  $\Phi^q_{\tau}x_0$  for fixed  $\mu = (u_1, u_2, \cdots, u_q)$  and by  $\Phi^q_{\mu}x_0$  for fixed  $\tau$ .

A point  $y \in M$  is called *normally reachable* from an  $x \in M$  if there exist a flow such that  $\Phi^q_{\bar{\tau}}x = y$  and the mapping  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}^q_+ \to \Phi^q_{\tau}(x)$ , which is defined in an open neighborhood of  $\bar{\tau}$ , has rank  $n = \dim M$  at  $\bar{\tau}$ .

As a consequence of the surjective mapping theorem, [6] Theorem 41.6, one has that there is a neighborhood V of y such that the points  $z \in V$ are normally reachable points from x. Let us denote by  $\mathcal{N}(x)$  the set of normally reachable points. It follows that if  $\mathcal{N}(x)$  is not empty, then it has a nonempty interior. In the context of switching systems it means that the set of points reachable from x by using piecewise constant switchings has nonempty interior.

The (switching) system has the normal accessibility property if for every x the set  $\mathcal{N}(x)$  is not empty. The system is normally controllable if y is normally reachable from x for every  $x, y \in M$ . In the language of the switching systems if the system is normally controllable then every two point can be joined using a finite number of switchings.

In what follows we will need the following fundamental result, see Theorem 4.3 in [72]:

**Theorem 2** Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a system of  $\mathcal{C}^r$  vector fields on the  $\mathcal{C}^{r+1}$  manifold M,  $1 \leq r \leq \infty$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- i.  $\mathcal{F}$  is controllable
- ii.  $\mathcal{F}$  is normally controllable
- iii. M is connected and, for every  $x \in M$ , x is normally accessible from x.

**Remark 4** Further details concerning the relation between controllability and normal controllability can be found in [25], too. In [26] it is proved that globally controllable smooth systems are controllable by using piecewise constant controls. The key point here is that for a globally controllable system every point has the normal accessibility property. Actually the interior points of the reachability set are reachable by piecewise constant controls, for details see [73].

### 2.4 Global controllability

Having in mind the result of the previous section we can concentrate now on the controllability problem itself. Let us apply Theorem 1 in the unconstrained situation: by constructing the Lie extension of the vector field  $\mathcal{F} = \{A_i x + B_i u \mid u \geq 0\}$ , one can observe that  $B_i u$  is compatible with  $\mathcal{F}$ , i.e.,  $B_i u \in LS(\mathcal{F})$ . Indeed,  $B_i u \in \overline{co(\mathcal{F})}$ , since  $B_i u = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda} (A_i x + \lambda B_i u)$ . If there is a vector  $v \in LS(\mathcal{F})$  such that  $-v \in LS(\mathcal{F})$ , then  $\pm A_i v \in LS(\mathcal{F})$ , too, see [36].

Using these techniques in the unconstrained case a necessary and sufficient condition for controllability can be given, see [69],[77]:

**Theorem 3** The unconstrained switching system is controllable if and only if

$$rank \ \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} = n, \tag{2.4}$$

*i.e.*, the multivariable Kalman rank condition, holds, where the subspace  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$  is defined as

$$\mathcal{R}_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})} := span\left\{\prod_{j=1}^{J} A_{l_j}^{i_j} B_k \,|\, k = 1, \cdots, s\right\}$$
(2.5)

where  $J \ge 0$ ,  $l_j \in \{0, \dots, s\}$ ,  $i_j \in \{0, \dots, n-1\}$ . Moreover, if one considers the finitely generated Lie-algebra  $\mathcal{L}(A_0, \dots, A_s)$  which contains  $A_0, \dots, A_s$ , and a basis  $\hat{A}_1, \dots, \hat{A}_K$  of this algebra, then

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} = \sum_{k=0}^{s} \sum_{n_1=0}^{n-1} \dots \sum_{n_K=0}^{n-1} Im \; (\hat{A}_1^{n_1} \dots \hat{A}_K^{n_K} B_k). \tag{2.6}$$

Note, that  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$  is the minimal subspace invariant for all of the  $A_i$ s containing  $\mathcal{B} = \bigcup_{i=1}^s ImB_i$ .

For sign constrained input one cannot find easily other compatible vector fields than  $B_i$ . Unfortunately, in general it is a hard task to prove complete controllability using Theorem 1. A result that gives a necessary and sufficient condition for the small time controllability, i.e, controllability using arbitrary small time, of the constrained switching system and uses Lie algebraic ideas is [79] and [40]. These results are quite restrictive, since small time controllability requires that the convex cone generated by  $B_i$  contain a subspace, i.e.,  $\overline{co}(\bigcup_{i=1}^{s} B_i) - \overline{co}(\bigcup_{i=1}^{s} B_i) \neq \emptyset$ .

These observations motivates the necessity to search for other methods in order to obtain a useful algorithm that might test controllability in the sign constrained case. Since  $\mathcal{G} = \overline{co}\{\mathcal{F}\}$  is the Lie extension of  $\mathcal{F}$  the controllability problem for the two vector fields are equivalent.

In the more general setting of the convex processes – the set-valued analogues of linear operators – the input constrained controllability problem for LTI systems was solved in [23]. In the sequel a short overview will be given of these results followed by an extension to the input constrained controllability problem of switching systems.

### 2.5 Stabilizability and asymptotic controllability

The zero solution of the differential inclusion  $\dot{x} \in F(x)$  is called asymptotically [strongly/weakly] stable if [for any solution/there exists a solution] x(t) such that for any  $\epsilon > 0$  there is a  $\delta > 0$  and  $\Delta > 0$  such that if  $||x(0)|| < \delta$  then  $||x(t)|| < \epsilon$  holds for all  $t \ge 0$  and if  $||x(0)|| < \Delta$  then  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t) = 0$  holds.

Concerning the stabilizability problem a lot of papers focus on the asymptotic stability analysis for switched homogeneous linear systems under arbitrary switching, and provide an algebraic characterization in terms of the system matrices, that can be viewed as the requirement imposed by the stability condition on the spectrum of an LTI operator. The requirement of (robust) stability imposes very strict conditions on the dynamics, e.g. all the subsystems must be stable or stabilizable. Even under this condition, one has, in general, further restrictions on the allowable switching frequency (dwell time), determined by the spectrum of the matrices, see e.g. [52],[45],[82].

The relation of strong stabilizability with controllability is trivial (every mode must be controllable). Strong asymptotic stability is equivalent to the existence of a common convex and homogeneous Lyapunov function for every member system. Since this is a very intensively researched area with an impressive number of results of different kind (Lie algebraic, matrix algebraic, etc.) this report does not insist further on this topic.

In the more general situation, when one has unstable modes, more severe conditions on the switching sequence have to be imposed. In this respect one of the most elusive problems is the switching stabilizability problem, i.e. under what condition is it possible to stabilize a switched system by properly designing autonomous switching control laws. This problem corresponds to the weak asymptotic stability notion of the associated differential inclusions.

System (2.2) is globally asymptotically controllable (GAC) provided that for each  $x_0$  there is a bounded measurable control such that for the corresponding trajectory  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t) = 0$  and  $|x(t)| \leq \theta(|x_0|)$  for all  $t \geq 0$  for a nondecreasing function  $\theta : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  with  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \theta(t) = 0$ , i.e. for each initial state, there exists a control such that the corresponding solution is defined and converges to zero with "small overshoot" and also that the input remains bounded for x near zero, for details see [54].

The importance of global asymptotical controllability is that it implies

closed-loop stabilizability, i.e. it implies the existence of a feedback control such that the resulting closed loop-system is stable, see [20] (in terms of the so-called  $\pi$  trajectories) and [2], [54] (Carathéodory trajectories).

### 2.6 Convex processes

A convex process A from  $\mathbb{R}^n$  to itself is a set-valued map satisfying  $\lambda A(x) + \mu A(y) \subset A(\lambda x + \mu y)$  for all  $\lambda, \mu \geq 0$ , or, equivalently, a set-valued map whose graph is a convex cone. A convex process is closed if its graph is closed and that it is strict if its domain is the whole space. With a strict closed convex process A one can associate the Cauchy problem for the differential inclusion:  $\dot{x}(t) \in A(x(t)), x(0) = 0$ , for details see [24] and [5].

If  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , let us denote by  $G^+$  its (positive) polar cone defined by

$$G^{+} = \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \mid \langle p, x \rangle \ge 0, \, \forall x \in G \} \,. \tag{2.7}$$

The transpose  $A^*$  of A is defined as the set-valued map defined by  $p \in A^*(q) \Leftrightarrow \forall (x, y) \in Graph(A), \langle p, x \rangle \leq \langle q, y \rangle$ . For  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  the eigenvectors v of  $A^*$  are the nonzero solutions of the inclusion  $\lambda v \in A^*(v)$ .

Motivated by the terminology used for linear systems we say that A satisfies the *rank condition* if the subspace spanned by the cone  $A^k(0)$  is the whole space for some integer  $k \ge 1$ .

**Theorem 4** ([23]) The following conditions are equivalent:

- a) the differential inclusion  $\dot{x}(t) \in A(x(t)), x(0) = 0$  is controllable,
- b) the differential inclusion is controllable at some time T > 0,
- c) the rank condition is satisfied and  $A^*$  has no eigenvectors,
- d) for some  $k \ge 1$ , one has  $A^k(0) = (-A)^k(0) = \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Controllability of a linear control system is equivalent to the controllability of the differential inclusion defined by  $\dot{x}(t) \in Ax(t) + U$ , x(0) = 0, with  $U = \overline{co}(B\Omega)$  is a closed convex cone of controls, where  $\overline{co}(S)$  denotes the closure of the convex hull of the set S, see [5]. The adjoint inclusion is  $-\dot{q}(t) \in A^T q(t), q(t) \in U^+$ , see [23].

### 2.7 Bimodal systems

Consider a *bimodal piecewise linear system*, i.e., a division of the state space by a hyperplane C. The dynamics valid within each region is

$$\dot{x}(t) = \begin{cases} A_1 x(t) + B_1 u(t) & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{C}_-, \\ A_2 x(t) + B_2 u(t) & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{C}_+, \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

where  $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the state vector and  $u(t) \in \mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{R}^m$  is the input vector. The initial state of the system at  $t_0$  is determined by the initial state  $x_0 = x(t_0)$  and the initial mode  $s_0 \in \{1, 2\}$  in which the system is found at  $t_0$ .  $\mathcal{C}$  denotes the hyperplane  $kerC = \{x \mid Cx = 0\}$  and  $\mathcal{C}_{\pm}$  denote the half spaces  $\mathcal{C}_+ = \{x \mid Cx \geq 0\}$  and  $\mathcal{C}_- = \{x \mid Cx \leq 0\}$ . The state matrices are constant and of compatible dimensions,  $B_1, B_2$  having full column rank.  $y_s = Cx$  defines the decision vector.

**Remark 5** One can consider a number of different inputs for each mode. In this paper we chose  $m_1 = m_2 = m$  for the sake of simplicity but this does not affect the generality of the results.

Let us suppose that the relative degree corresponding to the output  $y_s$  and the *i*th mode is  $r_i$ , i.e.,  $y_s^{(k)} = CA_i^k x$ ,  $k < r_i$  and  $y_s^{(r_i)} = CA_i^{r_i} x + CA_i^{r_i-1}B_i u$ with  $CA_i^{r_i-1}B_i \neq 0$ , see [33]. It is reasonable to assume that  $r_i < n$ , otherwise it would follows that  $y_s$  fulfil a homogeneous differential equation, defined by the characteristic polynomial of  $A_i$ . In this case the *i*th mode would not be able to leave the points of the hypesurface C, characterized by  $y_s = 0$ , i.e., such a system would not be well-posed nor completely controllable.

If  $r_i < n$  then the system is *right invertible*. Right invertibility denotes the possibility of imposing any sufficiently smooth output function by a suitable input function, starting at the zero state. It turns out that this property is related to  $S_{i,*}$ , i.e., the minimal  $(C_i, A_i)$ -invariant subspace containing  $ImB_i$ . On the other hand *left invertibility*, i.e., the property that for every admissible  $y_s$  corresponds uniquely an input u, is closely related to the subspace  $\mathcal{V}_i^*$ , the maximal  $(A_i, B_i)$ -invariant subspace contained in  $\mathcal{C}$ .

For linear systems the points of  $\mathcal{V}_i^*$  are not visible by the output. Only the orthogonal projection of the state on the subspace  $\mathcal{V}_i^{*,\perp}$  can be deduced from the output and its derivatives, moreover this is the largest subspace where the orthogonal projection of the state can be recognized solely from the output. If the state is known, the orthogonal projection of the input can be determined modulo  $B_i^{-1,T} \mathcal{V}_i^*$ , see [7].

Having a single output, in order to remove the ambiguity in the right inverse, one can always redefine the inputs of the system. Indeed, define an input transformation  $M_i u = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{u}_i \\ w_i \end{bmatrix}$  such that  $B_i M_i^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{B}_i & b_i \end{bmatrix}$  with  $CA_i^{r_i-1}\tilde{B}_i = 0$  and  $CA_i^{r_i-1}b_i = 1$ , e.g., by considering the basis  $\{b_i, \tilde{b}_{i,j} = b_{i,j} - CA_i^{r_i-1}b_{i,j}b_i, j = 2, \cdots, m\}$  in  $Im \ B_i$ . Then the single input single output (SISO) subsystem  $(A_i, b_i, C)$  is left and right invertible, i.e.,  $\tilde{\mathcal{V}}_i^* \cap \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{i,*} = 0$ and  $\tilde{\mathcal{V}}_i^* + \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{i,*} = \mathbb{R}^n$ , see [8], where the invariant subspaces correspond to the SISO system, while the remaining subsystem  $(A_i, \tilde{B}_i, C)$  is not invertible.

It follows that the  $i^{th}$  mode can be transformed, see [12] and the "Four Map Theorem" in [8], to :

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{\eta}_i \\ \dot{\xi}_i \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} P_i \eta_i + R_i y_s + Q_i \tilde{u}_i \\ A_{r_i} \xi_i + B_{r_i} v_i \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.9)

$$y_s = C_{r_i} \xi_i, \tag{2.10}$$

where  $\eta_i \in \mathcal{V}_i^*$  and the subsystem for  $\xi_i$  is a chain of integrators with  $B_{r_i} = [1 \ 0 \cdots 0]^T$  and  $C_i = [0 \cdots 0 \ 1]$ . The inputs  $v_i$  and  $w_i$  are related as  $v_i = CA_i^r x + w_i$ .

Since  $y_s$  is common for both systems, if  $r_1 = r_2 = r$  then  $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = \xi$ . Recall that the components of  $\xi$  are formed by  $y_s$  and its derivatives up to order r - 1. It follows that the complementer subspaces (zero dynamics) have the same dimension, i.e., there exist a basis transformation T such that  $\eta_2 = T\eta_1 = T\eta$ . In this case the bimodal system can be written as

$$\dot{\eta} = \begin{cases} P_1 \eta + R_1 y_s + Q_1 \tilde{u}_1 & \text{if } y_s \ge 0\\ P_2 \eta + R_2 y_s + Q_2 \tilde{u}_2 & \text{if } y_s \le 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

$$\dot{\xi} = \begin{cases} A_r \xi + B_r v_1 & \text{if } y_s \ge 0\\ A_r \xi + B_r v_2 & \text{if } y_s \le 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.12)

**Remark 6** Observe that the required transformation can be performed by the same change of base in the state space. e.g.,  $\begin{bmatrix} \eta \\ \xi \end{bmatrix} = Tx$ , where for the last rows of T are chosen the vectors  $CA_2^j$ ,  $j = 0, \dots, r-1$ . However the feedback to obtain the desired structure might differ. The input transformations are also different, in general; this difference is reflected in the notation  $u_1, u_2$  and  $v_1, v_2$ , respectively.

Since the decomposition – i.e., the transformation T – depends only on C, A and r, the choice of the input transformation does not play any role in the validity of the controllability results.

In the case when  $r_1 \neq r_2$  such a splitting is not possible but the system can be transformed into (suppose that  $r_1 < r_2$ ):

$$\dot{\eta} = \begin{cases} P_1 \eta + R_1 y_s + Q_1 \tilde{u}_1 & \text{if } y_s \ge 0\\ P_2 \eta + R_2 y_s + Q_2 \tilde{u}_2 + Q_3 v_2 & \text{if } y_s \le 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

$$\dot{\xi} = \begin{cases} A_r \xi + B_r v_1 & \text{if } y_s \ge 0\\ A_r \xi + B_r \bar{\eta} & \text{if } y_s \le 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

where  $\bar{\eta}$  denotes the last component of  $\eta$ .

In contrast to the previous situation, in this case the subsystem  $\xi$ , hence the decision variable  $y_s$ , cannot be controlled independently from the subsystem  $\eta$  in both modes. Moreover, in the first mode the only way to control the higher order derivatives of  $y_s$  is through the inputs  $\tilde{u}_1$ . This fact makes the study of the controllability problem for these systems, in general, more difficult.

#### **Problem formulation**

In this report it is addressed the case when  $r_i = r$ , for which the system is always well posed, see [31]. For sake of simplicity the results will be presented for the case when r = 1, i.e.,

$$\dot{\eta} = \begin{cases} P_1 \eta + R_1 y_s + Q_1 u & \text{if } y_s \ge 0\\ P_2 \eta + R_2 y_s + Q_2 u & \text{if } y_s \le 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.15)

$$\dot{y}_s = v, \tag{2.16}$$

but the assertions remain valid for the general case.

The controllability question of the bimodal system can be reduced to the question of controllability/reachability of the origin through the closed-loop switchings allowed by the switching surface C. Due to the fact that the bimodal system is not a linear system, the affirmative answer given on this question is not completely trivial.

Reference [79] deals directly with problems described by (2.15) and (2.16), while [28] assumes only single input left and right–invertible systems whose dynamics are smooth, i.e., continuous along the trajectories. In this case one

has  $A_1x + B_1u = A_2x + B_2u$ , for all  $x \in \mathcal{C}$ ,  $u \in \mathcal{U}$ . It follows that  $A_2 = A_1 - KC$ and  $B_1 = B_2 = B$  for a suitable matrix K, i.e., one has  $P_1 = P_2 = P$  and  $Q_1 = Q_2 = 0$  in (2.15).

## Chapter 3

# **Results and Discussions**

### **3.1** Finite number of switchings, sampling

The main result of this section can be formulated as:

**Proposition 1** If the switching system (2.1) is globally controllable than it is also globally controllable by using piecewise constant switching functions, *i.e.* using only a finite number of switchings.

Moreover, there exist a bound for the necessary number of switchings, that depends only on the system matrices and  $\Omega$ . There exist a universal (finite) switching sequence  $\sigma$  such that the time varying system  $\dot{x} = A(\sigma)x + B(\sigma)u$ is globally controllable.

**Proof:** The first part of the assertion follows from the implication  $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$  of Theorem 2.

For the second part recall that the reachability set  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma}$  associated to a switching sequence  $\sigma$  is a pointed cone. From (*iii*) of Theorem 2 follows that the origin is normally accessible from itself, hence there is a neighborhood of the origin (a ball) that is also normally accessible by the same switching sequence. It follows that the pointed cone  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma}$  contains a ball around the origin, i.e.,  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma} = \mathbb{R}^n$ . Since  $\sigma$  contains a finite number of switchings our assertion is proved.

**Remark 7** For unconstrained switching, [70], and for small time controllability of input constrained switching, [40] the finiteness of the switching sequence follows from the fact that the authors consider only piecewise constant switching functions (trajectories) while the boundedness follows from the derivation of the controllability condition. The advantage of Proposition 1 is that one can concentrate on the global controllability problem in general, i.e. admitting measurable controls also, which is a common setting for studying controllability of nonlinear systems.

**Remark 8** From Proposition 1 follows that there is a minimum number of switching that ensures (global) controllability. It is an open problem to give a (tight) upper bound for this number, even in the unconstrained case, see [70]. It is neither clear if this minimum can be achieved by using a single switching sequence or not.

In a general nonlinear context these questions are posed in the framework of time optimal control. The obtained results are too restrictive to be applicable for a switching system, for details see [41],[74],[78].

In the definition of normal reachability the control input sequence  $\mu$  is fixed while the switching times may vary in a certain neighbourhood of  $\tau$ . It turns out that the rank of the map  $\mu \in \Omega^N \to \Phi^N_{\mu}(x)$  is also significant and it is closely related to the controllability of the sampled system, in general, for details see [63, 62, 65]. A point  $y \in M$  will be called *full rank reachable* from an  $x \in M$  if there exist a flow such that  $\Phi^N_{\mu}x = y$  and the mapping  $\mu \in U^N \to \Phi^N_{\mu}(x)$ , which is defined in an open neighborhood of  $\bar{\mu}$ , has rank  $n = \dim M$  at  $\bar{\mu}$ .

**Proposition 2** For the globally controllable linear switching system (2.1) for arbitrary point pairs (x, y) one has that y is full rank reachable from x. Moreover, every point pair can be joined in a full rank reachable way by using the same sequence ( $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  fixed).

**Proof:** For unconstrained linear switching systems the assertion is well known, see e.g. [68] or [70]. The constrained case can be reduced to the unconstrained result and Proposition 1: let us consider a point that is full rank reachable from the origin with positive controls. Since the constrained controllable system is also unconstrained controllable, such a point clearly exists. However, by controllability, the origin can be reached from the point z by using a finite switching sequence. By joining these two finite sequences one has that an open neighbourhood of the origin is full rank reachable from the origin. Since the reachability set  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma}$  is a pointed cone that contains a ball it follows that  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma} = \mathbb{R}^n$ . **Example 1** To illustrate the difference between the "time topology" related to  $\Phi_{\tau}^{q}(x)$  and the "input topology" related to  $\Phi_{\mu}^{q}(x)$  – see [64] for the terminology – consider the switched system defined by the modes  $A_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ ,  $b_{1} = 0$  and  $A_{2} = 0$ ,  $b_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ , respectively. The corresponding flows are  $F_{1}^{t}(x) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & t \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} x$  and  $F_{2,u}^{t}(x) = x + tu \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ . It follows that for any u > 0 and t > 0 with the switching sequence  $\sigma = (2, 1, 2, 1, 2)$ , input sequence  $\mu = (u, 0, -2u, 0, u)$  and time sequence  $\bar{\tau} = (t, t, t, t, t)$  the flow

$$\Phi_{\tau}^{5}(0) = F_{2,u}^{t_{5}} \circ F_{1}^{t_{4}} \circ F_{2,-2u}^{t_{3}} \circ F_{2}^{t_{2}} \circ F_{2,u}^{t_{1}}(0) =$$
$$= t_{1}u \begin{bmatrix} t_{2} + t_{4} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} - 2t_{3}u \begin{bmatrix} t_{4} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} + t_{5}u \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

has full rank at  $\bar{\tau}$  with  $\Phi_{\bar{\tau}}^5(0) = 0$ , see Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1:

For any t > 0 with the switching sequence  $\sigma = (2, 1, 2)$ , input sequence  $\mu = (u_1, 0, u_2)$  and time sequence  $\tau = (t, t, t)$  the flow

$$\Phi^{3}_{\mu}(x) = F^{t}_{2,u_{2}} \circ F^{t}_{2} \circ F^{t}_{2,u_{1}}(0) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & t \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} x + tu_{1} \begin{bmatrix} t \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} + tu_{2} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

has full rank at any  $\bar{\mu}$  with  $\Phi^3_{\bar{\mu}}(x) = y$  ( $\bar{\mu} = (0,0)$  for x=y=0).

Observe that in the input topology, i.e. for the discretized system, the design problem is linear in the unknown variables. This fact motivates that in the investigations of linear switched systems the usage of this topology is preponderant.

From Proposition 2 it is immediate that:

**Corollary 1** For every completely controllable linear switching system (2.1) the sampled discrete-time system is also completely controllable for suitable sampling rates.

As a consequence one has the following embedding/restriction, see [77] for further details:

**Corollary 2** For every completely controllable linear switching system (2.1) one can associate – not necessary a unique – completely controllable periodic linear time varying system  $\dot{x} = A(t)x + B(t)$ .

The non uniqueness comes from the fact that one has more switching sequences  $\sigma$  such that  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma} = \mathbb{R}^n$ . From practical reasons it is preferable to chose the sequence with minimal length. While algorithms that compute suitable  $\sigma$  such that  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma} = \mathbb{R}^n$  can be relatively easily constructed, obtaining a minimal sequence is an open problem yet.

## 3.2 Controllability analysis of linear switching systems with sign constrained inputs

Applying Theorem 4 one can obtain the result of Kalman, [37], for the unconstrained case and the results reported in [16] and [39] for the constrained input case.

Along these lines one can find a necessary condition for the controllability of an open–loop switching system with nonnegative control:

$$\dot{x} = A_i x + B_i u, \quad u \ge 0. \tag{3.1}$$

Denote by  $U = \overline{co}(\bigcup_{i=1}^{s} B_i \Omega)$  and by

$$A_{c}(x) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_{i} A_{i} x + U \, | \, \alpha_{i} \ge 0, \, \sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_{i} = 1 \right\}.$$

Then the associated differential inclusion have the same reachability set as the original switching system (3.1). As it was shown in the previous section,

this extension is based on the geometrical framework of control theory given by the Lie theoretic approach. Even this system does not define a convex process the result d) of Theorem 4 remains valid for the general case, too.

Let us consider the differential inclusion  $\dot{x} \in F(x)$ ,  $x(0) = \xi$  and the reachable set  $\mathcal{R}^T(\xi) = \{x(T)\}$  where x is a solution. If F has nonempty, compact, convex values and is locally Lipschitz then

$$\mathcal{R}^{T}(\xi) = \lim_{N \to \infty} (I + \frac{T}{N}F)^{N}(\xi) := [Exp F](T\xi),$$

for definitions and details see [83].

Extending this result, Proposition 2 of [19] shows that for a positively homogeneous inclusion,  $(F(\alpha) = \alpha F(x), \alpha > 0)$ , one has

$$[Exp F](t\xi) = \xi + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{t^k}{k!} F^k(\xi),$$

where  $F^k = F \circ F \circ \cdots \circ F$ .

The assertion follows by applying this result for the differential inclusion defined by  $A_c$ . Observe that  $A_c$  is a positively homogeneous inclusion with closed, convex values, hence  $\alpha A_c^k(0) = A_c^k(0)$  for any  $\alpha > 0$ . Moreover, since

$$A_c^k(x) = co\{A_i\}A_c^{k-1}(x) + A_c(0)$$

it follows that  $A_c^{k-1}(0) \subset A_c^k(x)$  and that  $A_c^k(x)$  is a closed convex cone.

It follows that for the reachability set  $\mathcal{R}$  one has

$$\mathcal{R} = \bigcup_{T \ge 0} \mathcal{R}^T(0) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^N A_c^k(0) = \lim_{N \to \infty} A_c^N(0).$$

Since the series  $A_c^k(0)$  is an increasing sequence of closed convex cones it follows, that if  $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{R}^n$ , then there is a finite index M such that  $\mathcal{R} = A_c^M(0)$ .

Then, the main result of this paper concerning controllability of the input constrained open-loop switching systems can be formulated as:

**Proposition 3** The following conditions are equivalent:

a) the switching system  $\dot{x} = A_i x + B_i u, i \in \{1, \dots, s\}, \quad u \in \Omega$  is controllable,

- b) the associated differential inclusion  $\dot{x} \in A_c(x), x(0) = 0$  is controllable,
- c) for some  $k \ge 1$ , one has  $A_c^k(0) = (-A)_c^k(0) = \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Since controllability of the constrained system implies controllability of the unconstrained system, the rank condition for  $A_c(x)$  can be replaced by the multivariable Kalman rank condition of Theorem 3.

The results of Proposition 3 shows that if controllability conditions are satisfied for a system defined by  $(A_i, B_i)$  then they are satisfied for a system defined by  $(-A_i, -B_i)$ , too. It follows that controllability of an open-loop switching system implies reachability, hence global controllability.

Introducing the notation  $\mathbf{co}\{V_j\}$  for the convex hull of the subsets  $V_j \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , then the sets  $A_p^k := A_c^k(0)$  and  $A_m^k := (-A)_c^k(0)$  can be computed using the following algorithm:

#### Controllability Algorithm:

$$U = \mathbf{co}\{B_i \Omega \mid i = 1, \cdots, s\}$$
(3.2)

$$A_p^1 = U, \quad A_m^1 = -U, \tag{3.3}$$

$$A_p^{k+1} = \mathbf{co}\{A_i A_p^k + B_i \Omega \mid i = 1, \cdots, s\},$$
(3.4)

$$A_m^{k+1} = \mathbf{co}\{-A_i A_m^k - B_i \Omega \mid i = 1, \cdots, s\}.$$
(3.5)

**Example 2** To illustrate the results let us consider the system

$$A_{1} = 0, B_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1\\1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$A_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0\\-1 & 0 & 0\\0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} B_{2} = 0,$$
$$A_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0\\0 & 0 & 0\\-1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} B_{3} = 0.$$

Applying the algorithm one can find that  $A_p^k = A_m^k$  with k = 4, i.e., the system is globally controllable.

**Remark 9** The number k of Proposition 3, i.e.,  $A_p^k = A_m^k$  is not related with the minimum number of switchings. Unfortunately, for  $n \ge 2$  this number can be arbitrarily large, as the following example shows:

$$A_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{N} \\ -\frac{1}{N} & 0 \end{bmatrix} B_{1} = 0, \quad A_{2} = 0, \ B_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

By [55] this system is globally controllable by nonnegative controls and k > N. However, it is clear that using the switching sequence  $\sigma = (2, 1)$  every point is reachable.

Finding an efficient algorithm that can prove or disprove controllability is subject of further research.

# 3.3 Stabilizability of completely controllable linear switching systems

In order to prove stabilizability of completely controllable linear switching systems it is sufficient to show that they are globally asymptotically controllable.

**Lemma 1** A completely controllable linear switching system is globally asymptotically controllable.

**Proof:** Let us consider the unit sphere S and a point  $x \in \mathcal{B}$ . By complete controllability it follows that there is a finite switching sequence  $\tau_x = (\tau_{L_x}, \ldots, \tau_2, \tau_1)$  and a bounded measurable control sequence (actually a piecewise constant control)  $u_x = (u_{L_x}, \ldots, u_2, u_1) \in \Omega^{L_x}$  such that the corresponding trajectory steers the point x to the origin, i.e.

$$\Phi(\tau_x, u_x)x = \prod_{j=1}^{L_x} e^{(A_{l_j}\xi + B_{l_j}u_j)\tau_j}x = 0,$$

where, for notational convenience  $e^{(A_{l_j}\xi+B_{l_j}u_j)\tau}\zeta$  denotes the flow associated to the vector field  $A_{l_j}\xi + B_{l_j}u_j$  that passes through the initial state  $\zeta$  at t = 0.

By the continuity of the map  $\Phi(\tau_x, u_x)$  for the fixed pair  $(\tau_x, u_x)$  for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there is a neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}_x$  of x such that

$$||\Phi(\tau_x, u_x)\xi|| < \epsilon, \quad \forall \, \xi \in \mathcal{V}_x,$$

hence for all  $\xi \in \mathcal{W}_x = \mathcal{V}_x \cap \mathcal{S}$ , see Fig. 3.2.

Since the unit sphere is compact, there is a finite covering  $S = \bigcup_{j \in J} W_{x_j}$ . It follows that there is a control strategy that maps the unit sphere into the sphere with radius  $\epsilon < 1$  defined by this finite partition.



Figure 3.2: Asymptotic controllability

Since the linear maps  $\Phi(\tau_{x_j}, u_{x_j})$  are bounded one has a uniform bound for the "overshoot",

$$\Theta = \max_{j \in J} ||\Phi(\tau_{x_j}, u_{x_j})||.$$

Since the vector fields are linear the reachable spaces are cones, therefore the control strategy can be extended from the unit sphere to the whole state space, i.e. one can construct a trajectory with the bound  $||x(t)|| < \Theta ||x_0||$ that converges to the origin. It follows that a completely controllable linear switching system is globally asymptotically controllable.

**Corollary 3** The completely controllable linear switching system (2.1) is closed-loop stabilizable.

**Remark 10** For discrete-time linear switched systems with unconstrained inputs the assertion of Lemma 3 was proved recently, see [86]. The switching strategy in the proposed solution is a periodic one, based on the universal switching sequence. In contrast to the continuous time case the proof is constructive, moreover the necessary linear feedbacks can be obtained by a linear matrix inequality.

The continuous-time result for the unconstrained input case can be obtained directly from the discrete-time one by using the fact that generically the discretized linear switched system preserves the complete controllability property, see [70]. The resulting control will be a stabilizing control with a periodic (open-loop) switching strategy and a "feedback-like" control for u a feedback implemented in a sample and hold way.

The assertion of Lemma 3 is also valid for the sign constrained control input case, when the proof based on the discrete-time result is not applicable.

### Stabilizability by Generalized Piecewise Linear Feedback

While the general nonlinear theory guarantees the existence of a not too pathological feedback and control Lyapunov function, see [2], [38], [54], the results are hard to be applied to construct directly the required feedback for the switching system, i.e. to obtain the closed–loop switching strategy and necessary control inputs or even to infer that the control inputs are given by linear feedbacks.

Given an autonomous linear switching system

$$\dot{x} = A_i x, \quad i \in S$$

it is a nontrivial task to decide if the system is (weakly) stabilizable or not, in general. There are only a few sufficient conditions that guarantee stabilizability and provide a relatively simple closed-loop switching strategy. One such situation is when the convex hull of the system matrices contains a stable (Hurwitz) matrix, i.e. when there are  $\alpha_i > 0$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_i = 1$  such that  $\sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_i A_i$  is stable.

For the nonautonomous case with unconstrained inputs it is known that if the sum of the individual controllability subspaces gives the whole state space, then there are linear state feedbacks  $u = K_i x$  such that the resulting linear switching system

$$\dot{x} = (A_i + B_i K_i) x, \quad i \in S$$

is stable with a suitable closed-loop switching strategy, see [70]. It is not hard to figure out that the required condition is sufficient to guarantee that for any convex combination  $\alpha_i > 0$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_i = 1$  there exist feedbacks  $K_i$ such that  $\sum_{i=1}^{s} \alpha_i (A_i + B_i K_i)$  is stable.

As it can be concluded through simple examples, see [70], there are completely controllable switching systems that are not stabilizable by merely applying a single linear state feedback for the individual subsystems. However, as it will be shown in this Section, if the number of linear feedbacks is increased, one can obtain a set of autonomous linear systems that are (weakly) stabilizable.

For a given set of non-autonomous (controlled) linear switched systems (2.1) we call *Generalized Piecewise Linear Feedback Stabilizability* (GPLFS) the problem of finding a closed-loop switching strategy with

- suitable linear feedbacks  $u_i = K_{l_i} x, \quad i \in S$
- a switching law  $\kappa(x) \in S, x \in \mathbb{R}^n$

that (weakly)stabilizes the system.

The reasoning behind introducing the concept of generalized piecewise linear feedback stabilizability is to separate the task of finding a suitable switching strategy and that of finding suitable control inputs with low complexity that stabilizes the system in closed–loop.

The main idea is to substitute the original stabilizable nonautonomous system by a stabilizable autonomous linear switched system that might contain more modes then the original one, by applying as control inputs a number of suitable static linear control feedbacks.

**Theorem 5** The completely controllable linear switching system (2.1) is generalized piecewise linear feedback stabilizable.

**Proof:** In proving the assertion we will apply ideas of the Nagano–Sussmann\_Jurdjevic theory of attainability.

The first observation is that the vector field

$$f(x) = \{f_u(x) = Ax + Bu\}$$

can be replaced by the vector field

$$\mathcal{F}(x) = \{ f_K(x) = Ax + BKx \},\$$

if  $x \neq 0$ . Indeed, for any  $u \in \Omega$  one can chose a nonzero component  $x_i$  of x and a  $K = [k_{l,j}]$  such that  $k_{l,j} = 0$  if  $j \neq i$  and  $k_{l,i} = \frac{u_l}{x_i}$ , then u = Kx. Actually one has

$$F(x) = \mathcal{F}(x), \quad \text{if} \quad x \neq 0.$$

Moreover, for any  $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0$  there is a trajectory of the original system that does not pass through the origin. This follows from the fact that the origin is normally reachable from any point, see [26], [73]. Then by the surjective mapping theorem, [6], follows that a neighborhood of the origin is reachable by the same switching sequence. Hence, by the linearity of the vector fields, the whole space is reachable with the given switching sequence.

Since the trajectory x(t) does not pass through the origin, the original vector fields (F(x)) can be replaced by the new one  $(\mathcal{F}(x))$ . Moreover, since a given component of x(t) might vanish only a finite times on a finite interval, it follows that the controls  $K_i$  of the vector field  $F_K(x)$  are piecewise continuous. It follows that every point pair of the manifold  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0$  can be joined by a trajectory corresponding to the vector field  $\mathcal{F}$  by admissible controls.

It follows that the vector field  $\mathcal{F}$  is completely controllable on the manifold  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0$ . Since complete controllability implies controllability by piecewise constant controls, see [25], [26], it follows that every point pair of the space  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0$  can be joined by a trajectory of suitable autonomous switched systems  $A_l + B_l K_l$ .

**Remark 11** Complete controllability of the vector field  $\mathcal{F}$  has a very intuitive geometrical background. Since the solutions of a linear autonomous differential equations realizes some rotations and dilations/compressions in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , it means that for a given point pair (y, z) it is possible to select a finite set of feedbacks such that the resulting set of autonomous systems transform the point y into z for a suitable (finite) switching sequence.

In order to show that it is possible to select a finite set of autonomous systems that has the (weak) stabilizability property, the compactness argument applied in the proof of Lemma 1 can be repeated.

Indeed, selecting a point y on the unit sphere S and fixing a point z on the sphere  $\epsilon_1$ , there is a trajectory formed by suitable autonomous systems

 $A_l + B_l K_l$  that steers y to z, i.e.

$$\Psi(\tau_y, K_y)y = \prod_{j=1}^{L_y} e^{(A_{l_j} + B_{l_j}K_j)\tau_j}y = z.$$

By continuity of  $\Psi(\tau_y, K_y)$  for fixed  $\tau_y$  and  $K_y$  there is a neighborhood of y that is mapped in a sufficiently small neighborhood of z, such that  $||\Psi(\tau_y, K_y)\xi|| < \epsilon_2$ , with  $0 < \epsilon_1 < \epsilon_2 < 1$ , see Fig. 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Closed–loop stabilizability

These neighborhoods form a covering of the unit sphere, from which it is possible to select a finite one. It follows that it is possible to select a finite set of linear static state feedbacks such, that the resulting set of autonomous system is stabilizable.

The topological argument used in the proof of the Theorem 5 does not give a method to compute the feedbacks. In what follows, by using an (Euler) discretized differential inclusion, a constructive proof will be given for the unconstrained case ( $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^m$ ).

#### 3.3.1 Periodic switching sequence

**Lemma 2** Completely controllable discrete-time linear switched systems with reversible dynamics (nonsingular  $A_i$ ) can be piecewise linear feedback stabilized using a periodic switching sequence (time dependent switching).

**Proof:** This assertion also appears in [86] but its proof is not entirely correct. A corrected proof is as follows: choose a switching sequence  $\sigma$  such that  $rankC_{\sigma} = n$ . By choosing a nonsingular Schur-stable matrix  $A_d$ , one can explicitly construct the piecewise constant inputs that stabilize the time-varying systems obtained by a periodic repetition of the sequence  $\sigma$  with:

$$u^{x_0} = (\mathcal{C}^{\sigma}_{\tau})^{\dagger} (A_d - A_{\sigma}) x_0, \qquad (3.6)$$

where  $A_{\sigma} = A_{s_N} \cdots A_{s_1}$  and  $M^{\dagger}$  denotes a generalized inverse of M. The assertion would follow with feedbacks  $K_i$  such that  $A_d = \prod_{i=1}^N (A_{s_i} + B_{s_i}K_i)$  provided that the system

$$\tilde{K}_{i} = K_{i} \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} (A_{s_{i}} + B_{s_{i}} K_{i})$$
(3.7)

would be solvable for  $\tilde{K}_i = P_i(\mathcal{C}^{\sigma}_{\tau})^{\dagger}(A_d - A_{\sigma})$  with  $P_i$  the projection that gives the  $i^{th}$  input from (3.6). This is equivalent with the assertion that the resulting feedback sequence is such that  $A_{s_i} + B_{s_i}K_i$  is nonsingular. This is not true in general. However instead of  $A_d$  considering its slight perturbation  $A_c$  – which is also a Schur matrix – one can obtain the desired feedbacks. This follows from the fact that the determinant is a continuous function of the matrix components. Hence if at a given step  $A_{s_i} + B_{s_i}K_i$ would be nonsingular then  $K_i$  can be perturbed to  $\hat{K}_i = K_i + \epsilon_i K_{i,\epsilon_i}$  such that  $A_{s_i} + B_{s_i}\hat{K}_i$  is nonsingular and  $\epsilon_i > 0$  is arbitrarily small. Finally one get the matrix  $A_c = \prod_{i=1}^N (A_{s_i} + B_{s_i}\hat{K}_i) = A_d + \sum_{i=1}^N \epsilon_i B_{s_i} K_{i,\epsilon} \tilde{A}_i$  with  $\tilde{A}_i = \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} (\bar{A}_{s_i} + \bar{B}_{s_i} \hat{K}_i), \tilde{A}_1 = \mathbb{I}$ . For sufficiently small  $\epsilon_i$  the matrix  $A_c$  will be also a Schur matrix.

Observe that the number of modes needed for the stabilization is bounded by the length of the switching sequence  $\sigma$ .

**Proposition 4** Completely controllable linear switched systems can be piecewise linear feedback stabilized using a periodic switching sequence. **Proof:** For the proof recall that the reachable set of the Euler discretized differential inclusion approaches uniformly well the reachable set of the original inclusion  $\mathcal{A}_c$ , see Proposition 5.3 in [83], i.e. for a given  $\epsilon > 0$  and for all  $\xi$  in a compact set there is an  $N_0$  independent of  $\xi$  such that for each  $N > N_0$ ,  $0 \le j \le N$  one has  $dist(\mathcal{R}^{jh}(\xi), (I + \frac{T}{N}\mathcal{A}_c)^j(\xi)) < \epsilon$ , where dist is the Hausdorff distance. Since for almost all  $\tau$  one has  $< A, \mathcal{V} > = < \mathbb{I} + \tau A, \mathcal{V} >$ , the Euler discretized system will be also completely controllable, moreover their is a common stabilizing sequence  $\sigma$  for the two systems. Applying Lemma 2 for the discretized system one can design feedbacks that ensure arbitrary high decay rates of the closed–loop system. By choosing sufficiently small  $\tau$  the point  $\tilde{A}_{\sigma}\xi$  will be in a sufficiently small neighborhood of  $\bar{A}_{\sigma}\xi$ , where  $\tilde{A}_i = A_i + B_i K_i$  and  $\bar{A}_i = \mathbb{I} + \tau \tilde{A}_i$  and  $\bar{A}_{\sigma}$  is a Schur matrix. It follows that the matrix  $e^{\tau \tilde{A}_{s_N}} \cdots e^{\tau \tilde{A}_{s_1}}$  will be also a Schur matrix. This proves the assertion.

**Remark 12** Periodical stabilization of switched linear systems was also investigated in [87], where the case when the sum of the individual controllability subspaces gives the whole state space was covered.

In [86] an LMI condition was given for the synthesis of the stabilizing feedback gains of unconstrained controllable discrete—time linear switching systems. In view of Proposition 4 that result can be directly applied for the stabilization of sampled unconstrained controllable linear switching systems.

This section will be concluded by a slightly extended version of that result by setting LMIs that provide robust stabilization for uncertain systems.

**Proposition 5** Suppose that the uncertain discrete-time switching system  $x_{k+1} = A_i(\Delta)x_k + B_i(\Delta)u_k, u_k \in \mathbb{R}^m$  is controllable and suppose that there exist a switching sequence  $\sigma = (s_1, \dots, s_M)$  such that  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma} = \mathbb{R}^n$  independently of  $\Delta$ .

Then there exist a positive definite matrix S, nonsingular matrices  $V_i$  and matrices  $F_i$  such that the following LMI is feasible.

$$\begin{bmatrix} S & A_{s_M}V_M + B_{s_M}F_M & \dots & 0 & 0\\ (\bullet)^T & V_M + V_M^T & \dots & 0 & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots\\ 0 & 0 & \dots & V_2 + V_2^T & A_{s_1}V_M + B_{s_1}F_1\\ 0 & 0 & \dots & (\bullet)^T & V_1 + V_1^T - S \end{bmatrix} > 0$$

The system can be stabilized with the periodic switching signal defined by  $\sigma$ and the state feedback gains given by  $K_i = F_i V_i^{-1}$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, M$ .

**Proof:** The proof of the assertion is the same as in [86] and it is based by a recursive application of the elimination lemma, [15]. Denote by  $\sigma_i = (s_i, \dots, s_M)$ , then  $\bar{A}_{\sigma_i} = \bar{A}_i \bar{A}_{\sigma_{i-1}}$  with  $\bar{A}_i = A_{s_i} + B_{s_i} K_i$ . By assumption there is an S > 0 such that  $\bar{A}_{\sigma_1} S \bar{A}_{\sigma_1}^T - S < 0$  which can be written as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{I} & -\bar{A}_M(\Delta) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -S & 0 \\ 0 & \bar{A}_{\sigma_{M-1}}(\Delta) S \bar{A}_{\sigma_{M-1}}^T(\Delta) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{I} \\ -\bar{A}_M^T(\Delta) \end{bmatrix} < 0$$
(3.8)

By the elimination lemma this inequality is equivalent with:

$$\begin{bmatrix} -S & 0\\ 0 & \bar{A}_{\sigma_{M-1}}(\Delta)S\bar{A}_{\sigma_{M-1}}^{T}(\Delta) \end{bmatrix} + Sym\{\begin{bmatrix} -\bar{A}_{M}(\Delta)\\ -\mathbb{I} \end{bmatrix} V_{M} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \mathbb{I} \end{bmatrix}\}$$
(3.9)

Repeating the procedure one can obtain the assertion of the proposition.

**Remark 13** Having a polytopic uncertainty, i.e.  $A(\Delta) = A_0 + \delta_1 A_1 + \cdots + \delta_k A_K$ , the LMIs of Proposition 5 form a finite set of condition that can be easily solved.

#### 3.3.2 Event-driven stabilization

By using the techniques of the previous section it is possible to construct a set of autonomous linear systems that can be asymptotically stabilized, hence it is exponentially stable, see [70]. The problem that remains is that of finding a suitable switching sequence with low complexity that stabilizes the system in "closed-loop", i.e. to solve the event-driven stabilization problem.

The general theory claims that such a feedback (concerning the switching signal) exists. In a fairly general setting a (weak) asymptotic stabilizability result of nonsmooth controlled nonlinear systems can be given in terms of control-Lyapunov functions. By making use of the control-Lyapunov function it is possible to construct a discontinuous time-invariant feedback stabilizer that, when implemented with a sample-and-hold strategy, guarantees semiglobal practical asymptotic stability, [38]. However, these constructions are quite complex.

It turns out that for the stabilizable linear switched systems a stabilizing switching rule (control) can be always given through a conic partition  $\mathbb{R}^n = \bigcup_{k=1}^N \mathcal{C}_k$  of the state space where on each cone  $\mathcal{C}_k$  the mode  $i_k \in S$  is active.

Based on the ideas presented in [52] it was proved that the (weak) asymptotic stabilizability of some switched autonomous linear systems by means of an event driven switching strategy can be formulated in terms of a conic partition of the state space, see [47],[49]. The construction, however, is based on the existence of a convex (nonsmooth) Lyapunov function while [11] provides examples for stable switched systems that does not have a convex Lyapunov function. Nevertheless, the example from [11] can be also stabilized by a conic partition based switching.

As a solution based on a single Lyapunov function usually is hard to be found efforts have been devoted to the development of multiple Lyapunov functions, e.g. [17, 46]. For numerical and practical reasons, the individual functions are usually chosen to be quadratic, see e.g. [34] and for a recent survey on composite quadratic Lyapunov techniques [30]. The conditions of stabilization are derived as bilinear matrix inequalities (BMI), i.e. in terms of nonconvex conditions.

The general result regarding the stabilizability in terms of a conic partition based switching rule cames from optimization theory. For an exponentially stable linear autonomous switched system the quadratic optimization problem

$$\min_{\sigma} \int_{o}^{\infty} x^{T} Q_{\sigma(t)} x dt \qquad (3.10)$$

with positive definite matrices  $Q_i$ ,  $i \in S$  has a solution. Moreover, the solution is given by a conic partition based switching law, see [21, 58]. The construction of such a partition is a numerically intensive process.

#### 3.3.3 The general stabilizability problem

For convex processes stabilizability can be given in terms of the spectral properties of the process, see [61]. Unfortunately the differential inclusion associated to general switched linear systems is not a convex process and a general characterization of stabilizability is still lacking.

Even questions that are trivial for LTI systems are hard to be decided for switched systems. As an example: consider the Kalman decomposition of the linear switched system defined by the invariant (controllability) subspace  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ . As opposed to the LTI case in general there are no feedbacks that render such a decomposition diagonal. This fact does not affect the controllability on  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ , however it makes a stability analysis less transparent. Moreover, even if there would be a diagonal decoupling between the controllable and uncontrollable part, stabilizability implies that both parts should be stabilizable by using the same switching sequence, which is hard to decide.

## 3.4 Controllability analysis of bimodal systems

Note, that in Theorem 3 the subspace  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$  is the minimal subspace invariant for all of the  $A_i$ s containing  $\mathcal{B} = \sum_{i=0}^{s} ImB_i$ .

The bimodal system can be transformed, via a state transform and suitable feedbacks, to

$$\dot{\eta}_1 = \begin{cases} P_{1,1}\eta_1 + \tilde{R}_1 y_s + \tilde{Q}_1 u_1 & \text{if } y_s \ge 0\\ P_{2,1}\eta_1 + \tilde{R}_2 y_s + \tilde{Q}_2 u_2 & \text{if } y_s \le 0 \end{cases},$$
(3.11)

$$\dot{\eta}_2 = \begin{cases} P_{1,2}\eta_2 + R_1 y_s & \text{if } y_s \ge 0\\ P_{2,2}\eta_2 + R_2 y_s & \text{if } y_s \le 0 \end{cases},$$
(3.12)

$$\dot{y}_s = v, \tag{3.13}$$

where, by Theorem 3, subsystem (3.11) is controllable on C using openloop switchings. Thus, this decomposition can be viewed as a controllability decomposition of the bimodal LTI system where the study of the controllability of the original bimodal system reduces to controllability of the bimodal system formed by (3.12) and (3.13).

**Remark 14** When  $y_s = 0$ , i.e., on C, subsystems (3.11) does not contain  $y_s$ and the switching law must be defined externally. However for linear switching systems there exist a universal switching sequence that provides complete controllability, hence the switching sequence is fixed and a fundamental solution of (3.11) ( as a linear time varying system) is well defined. Therefore, by linearity, the controllability of (3.11) is not affected by the values of  $y_s$ .

**Lemma 3** The bimodal system (2.15), (2.16) is completely controllable if and only if the subsystem defined by (3.12),(3.13) is completely controllable. **Proof** The necessity is obvious. For the sufficiency it is enough to consider the reachability case, i.e., the situation when  $x_0 = 0$  and a given  $x_f$  is to be reached. Decompose  $x_f$  into  $\eta_{1,f}$  and  $(\eta_{2,f}, y_{s,f})$  according to (3.11) and (3.12),(3.13). Since the OLLS (3.11) is completely controllable, there is a finite switching sequence, see [70], and suitable inputs  $u_1, u_2$  that steers the origin according to (3.11) to  $\eta_{1,f}$ . Let us denote these inputs by  $u_{\eta}$ . The switching sequence can be realized by a suitable  $y_s^{\eta}$  that has sign changes at the required time instances, e.g., a modulated sine signal. Let us denote by  $v_{\eta}$ one of the controls that realizes  $y_s^{\eta}$ . By linearity and complete controllability of (3.12),(3.13) there are points  $(\eta_{2,o}, y_{s,o})$  from which the system (3.12),(3.13) is steered into  $(\eta_{2,f}, y_{s,f})$  applying  $v_{\eta}$ . Let us denote by  $v_o$  the input that steers (3.12),(3.13) from the origin to  $(\eta_{2,o}, y_{s,o})$ . During this the inputs  $u_i$ are maintained at zero, i.e.,  $\eta_1 = 0$ . It follows that applying the inputs  $(0, u_{\eta}), (v_o, v_{\eta})$  one can steer the origin into  $\eta_{1,f}$  and  $(\eta_{2,f}, y_{s,f})$ , i.e., into  $x_f$ .

Having the decomposition (3.12),(3.13) for a bimodal system it is immediate that if the system is controllable then the input constrained open-loop switching system of the type

$$\dot{\eta} = P_i \eta + \bar{R}_i w, \quad i \in \{1, 2\}, \quad w \ge 0$$
 (3.14)

with  $\bar{R}_i = (-1)^{i+1}R_i$  is also controllable. Consulting the result of [28], i.e., the case  $P_1 = P_2$ , it is apparent that the controllability condition of the bimodal system is equivalent to the input constrained controllability condition of the corresponding open-loop system given by (3.14). It is less apparent, but this consequence also holds for the case presented in [79].

#### A separation theorem

The bimodal system (3.12), (3.13) can be seen as a dynamic extension of

$$\dot{\eta}_2 = P_{i,2}\eta_2 + \bar{R}_{i,2}w, \quad i \in \{1,2\}, \quad w \ge 0$$
(3.15)

see [33]. Controllability of the dynamically extended system, provided that the original system was controllable, is by far non-trivial issue though for smooth vector fields it was proved in [75, 67]. For linear systems it is straightforward for unconstrained input case. This can be verified by checking the Kalman rank condition of the extended system, however this result cannot be directly applied here, since the input is signed constrained. **Lemma 4** If the points  $\eta_0$  and  $\eta_f$  can be connected by a trajectory of the linear system  $\dot{\eta} = P\eta + Rw$  using nonnegative control  $w \ge 0$  then, for a given r, they can be also connected using a smooth nonnegative control  $\omega \ge 0$  with prescribed end points, i.e.,  $\omega^{(k)}(0) = \omega_{0,k}$  and  $\omega^{(k)}(T_f) = \omega_{T_f,k}$  for  $k = 0, 1, \dots, r$ .

**Proof** The proof of the assertion is an adaptation of the proof for controllability by smooth controls given in Chapter 5., Theorem 4 of [36]. The main points of the proof are the following: for a linear system every accessible point is normally accessible (i.e., by using piecewise constant controls). Consider the control formed by the sequence  $(\mathbf{w}, \hat{\mathbf{t}}) = \{(w_1, \hat{t}_1), \dots, (w_F, \hat{t}_F))\}$  where the control formed by the sequence  $(\mathbf{w}, \hat{\mathbf{t}}) = \{(w_1, \hat{t}_1), \dots, (w_F, \hat{t}_F))\}$  where the control  $w_i \geq 0$  is applied for a duration of  $\hat{t}_i$ , that steers  $\eta_0$  to  $\eta_f$ . By the inverse mapping theorem, there exist functions  $t_i$  defined on a neighborhood V of  $\eta_f$  such that the sequence  $\{(w_1, t_1(z)), \dots, (w_F, t_F(z)))\}$  steers  $\eta_0$  to z for all  $z \in V$ . Denote by  $\tau_i = \sum_{l=1}^i t_l$  and for any sufficiently small  $\epsilon > 0$  consider the smooth nonnegative control  $\omega(t, z, \epsilon)$  defined by

$$\omega(t,z,\epsilon) = \begin{cases}
\beta_1(t,z) & \text{if } t \in [0,\epsilon] \\
w_1 & \text{if } t \in [\epsilon,\tau_1(z)-\epsilon] \\
w^* & \text{if } t \in [\tau_1(z)-\epsilon,\tau_1(z)+\epsilon] \\
\vdots \\
w_F & \text{if } t \in [\tau_{F-1}(z)+\epsilon,\tau_F(z)-\epsilon] \\
\beta_F(t,z) & \text{if } t \in [\tau_F(z)-\epsilon,\tau_F(z)],
\end{cases}$$
(3.16)

where  $w^* = (1 - \alpha_1(t, z))w_1 + \alpha_1(t, z)w_2$  and  $\alpha_i, \beta_j$  are smooth, nonnegative, increasing functions in t for each z in the interval  $[\tau_i^-, \tau_i^+] := [\tau_i(z) - \epsilon, \tau_i(z) + \epsilon]$ , with end conditions  $\alpha_i(\tau, z) = 0$ ,  $\partial_{t^k}^k \alpha_i(\tau, z) = 0$  at  $\tau \in \{\tau_i^-, \tau_i^+\}$  and  $k \ge 1$ . The same end conditions are imposed for  $\beta_1$  at  $t_1^+$  and for  $\beta_F$  at  $t_F^-$ . We also impose  $\partial_{t^k}^k \beta_1(0, z) = \omega_{0,k}$  and  $\partial_{t^k}^k \beta_F(\tau_F(z), z) = \omega_{F,k}$  for  $k = 0, 1, \dots, r$ . If we denote the associated integral curve by  $\Phi_{\epsilon}(t)$  then one has that  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \Phi_{\epsilon}(\tau_F(z)) = z$  in some neighborhood of  $\eta_f$ . The assertion of the Lemma follows by a fix point argument, for details see [36] or [75].

We can formulate one of the main results of this paper using this Lemma:

**Proposition 6** The bimodal system given by (3.12) and (3.13) is controllable if and only if the input constrained open-loop switching system (3.15) is controllable.

### **3.5** Stabilizability of bimodal systems

The bimodal system (2.8) is said to be stabilizable if any initial state can be asymptotically steered to the origin by a suitable admissible input u, i.e, for all  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  there exist a solution x(t) of the bimodal system such that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t) = 0.$ 

Let us first examine bimodal systems with continuous dynamics. In view of Proposition 6 these systems are equivalent with an LTI system with two sign constrained inputs. Starting from this observation one has the following result:

**Proposition 7** If the bimodal system has continuous dynamics, i.e.,  $P_1 = P_2 = P$ , then the bimodal system (3.12), (3.13) is stabilizable if and only if the corresponding sign constrained open-loop switching system (3.1) is stabilizable.

**Proof:** The necessity is obvious. For sufficiency let us recall the following basic fact: for a stabilizable LTI system, in particular for the sign constrained system  $\dot{x} = Px + [\bar{R}_1 \bar{R}_2]w, w \ge 0$ , there exist numbers  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\gamma > 0$  such that for any point  $x_0$  a trajectory of system satisfying the condition  $x(0) = x_0$  and

$$||x(t)|| \le \alpha ||x_0|| e^{-\gamma t} \quad t \ge 0$$
(3.17)

can be found, see [60]. It follows, that for this trajectory one has  $\int_0^\infty w < \infty$ , i.e.,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} w(t) = 0$ . Moreover this w can be chosen to be continuous, see [60], i.e., the implied switching sequence induced by the sign changes of w is piecewise constant. Then the construction leading to Proposition 6 can be applied and it follows, that the corresponding bimodal system, which has the state  $\begin{bmatrix} x \\ w \end{bmatrix}$ , is also stable.

In [29] one can find the following characterization of the stabilizability of a sign constrained LTI system:

**Theorem 6** The system

$$\dot{x} = Px + Rw \quad w \in \mathbb{R}^2_+ \tag{3.18}$$

is stabilizable if and only if the unconstrained system is stabilizable and all real eigenvectors v of  $P^T$  corresponding to a nonnegative eigenvalue of  $P^T$  have the property that  $R^T v$  has both positive and negative components.

**Remark 15** Since for an unconstrained LTI system controllability and stabilizability are equivalent, the first conditions of the theorem means, that the system has to satisfy the Kalman rank condition.

An equivalent result was given in [60], where a method for the construction of the stabilizing feedback was also presented.

If the more severe conditions of small time local controllability are satisfied, then Lipschitz continuous piecewise linear stabilizing feedback can be constructed, see [80].

The conditions of the Theorem (6) are satisfied for controllable systems, see Theorem 4.

The general case is more difficult and is beyond the scope of this paper to enter in more details regarding the solvability of the problem. We conclude this section with a result that provides a sufficient condition for stabilizability:

**Proposition 8** If the bimodal system (3.12), (3.13) is globally controllable, then it is asymptotically stabilizable.

**Proof:** By controllability and by Theorem 4 one has that from any initial state  $x_0$  there is a control that steers the point to the origin in a finite time, say T. By the finite switching property, Proposition 1, at time T a well defined system is active. Setting the input u = 0 for T > 0 the system is maintained in the origin, i.e. the system is stable.

# Chapter 4 Conclusions

- This report investigates controllability of linear time invariant (LTI) switching systems using nonnegative inputs. The paper gives algebraic conditions that guarantees global controllability for this class of systems. It is shown that if the system is globally controllable then the number of necessary switchings to control the system is bounded. A fairly generalized and modified view of the previous results reported in literature concerning controllability of switching systems was given.
- The report considers the problem of event driven stabilization of linear controlled switched systems and claims that if the system is completely controllable then it is stabilizable by generalized piecewise linear feedback, i.e. it is stabilizable by applying event driven switchings for a finite set of linear autonomous systems obtained by applying a suitable set of linear feedback.

The obtained results are general enough to include the class of linear controlled switched systems with sign constrained control inputs.

For the class of completely controllable unconstrained linear switching systems one has not only closed–loop stabilizability but also closed–loop exponential stabilizability. It is a subject of further research to explore what type of performance bounds exists concerning the convergence rate.

• The report considers the problem of finding a constructive algorithm for (closed-loop) stabilizability of controlled linear switched systems with unconstrained inputs. It was shown that the completely controllable

sampled switching system can be robustly stabilized (against disturbances and model uncertainties) with suitable linear feedbacks and a periodic switching strategy. The suitable feedback gains are computed via a set of LMIs. The algorithm relays on the computation of a suitable  $\sigma$  such that  $\mathcal{R}_{\sigma} = \mathbb{R}^n$ , which can be relatively easily constructed. However, obtaining a sequence with minimal length is an open problem yet.

• This report also investigates controllability of a class of bimodal linear time invariant (LTI) systems pointing to the relevant structures of the problem. It was shown that for a certain class controllability is equivalent with controllability of an open-loop switching system using nonnegative controls, i.e. to the controllability of a constrained open-loop switching system. The problem of stabilizability it was also addressed.

# Bibliography

- [1] C. Altafini, "The reachable set of a linear endogenous switching system," Systems and Control Letters, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 343–353, 2002.
- F. Ancona and A. Bressan, Patchy vector fields and asymptotic stabilization, *ESAIM-Control, Optimization and Calculus of Variations*, Vol. 4, pp. 445-471, 1999.
- [3] A. A. Agrachev and Y. L. Sachkov, Control Theory from the Geometric Viewpoint, ser. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer, 2004, vol. 87.
- [4] Azhmyakov, Vadim, Stability of differential inclusions: a computational approach. Math. Probl. Eng. Art. ID 17837, 2006.
- [5] J. P. Aubin and A. Cellina, *Differential Inclusions*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [6] R. Bartle, *The Elements of Real Analysis*, second ed. ed. Wiley, New York,, 1976.
- [7] G. B. Basile and G. Marro. A new characterization of some structural properties of linear systems: unknown-input observability, invertability and functional controllability. *Int. J. Control*, 17:931–943, 1973.
- [8] G. B. Basile and G. Marro. Controlled and Conditioned Invariants in Linear System Theory. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ., 2002.
- Blanchini, Franco, Nonquadratic Lyapunov functions for robust control. Automatica 31(3), 451–461, 1995.
- [10] Blanchini, Franco, Set invariance in control. Automatica 35, 1747–1767, 1999.

- [11] Blanchini, F. and C. Savorgnan, Stabilizability of switched linear systems does not imply the existence of convex Lyapunov functions. In: *Proc. of the 45th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, San Diego*. pp. 119–124, 2006.
- [12] G. Balas, J. Bokor, and Z. Szabo. Tracking of continuous LPV systems using dynamic inversion. In Proc. of the 43rd IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control, Atlantis, Paradise Island, Bahamas, 2004.
- [13] J. Bokor, Z. Szabó, and G. Balas, "Controllability of bimodal LTI systems," in *Proceedings of Joint CCA*, *ISIC and CACSD*, *Munich, Germany*, 2006.
- [14] J.Bokor, Z. Szabó and F. Szigeti, Controllability of LTI switching systems using nonnegative inputs. In: Proc. of the European Control Conference. ECC '07, Kos, Greece, 2007.
- [15] S. Boyd, L. El Ghaoui, E. Feron, and V. Balakrishnan, *Linear Matrix Inequalities in System and Control Theory*, Studies in Applied Mathematics. SIAM, 1994, vol. 15.
- [16] R. F. Brammer, "Controllability in linear autonomous systems with positive controllers," SIAM Journal on Control, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 329–353, 1972.
- [17] Branicky, M.S., Multiple Lyapunov functions and other analysis tools for switched and hybrid systems. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 43(4), 475–482, 1998.
- [18] A. Bressan and B. Piccoli, "A Baire category approach to the bang-bang property," J. Differential Equations, vol. 116, pp. 318–337, 1995.
- [19] A. Cabot and A. Seeger, "Multivalued Exponentiation Analysis. Part I: Maclaurin Exponentials," Set-Valued Analysis, 14(4):347–379, 2006.
- [20] Clarke, F. H., Y.S. Ledyaev, E.D. Sontag and A.I. Subbotin, Asymptotic controllability implies feedback stabilization. *IEEE Trans. Au*tomat. Control 42(10), 1394–1407, 1997.
- [21] D. Corona, A. Giua, and C. Seatzu, "Stabilization of switched systems via optimal control," in *Proceedings of the 16th IFAC World Congress*, *Prague, Czech Republic*, 2005.

- [22] Dayawansa, W.P. and C.F. Martin, Dynamical systems which undergo switching. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 44(4), 751–760, 1999.
- [23] H. Frankowska, C. Olech, and J. P. Aubin, "Controllability of convex processes," *SIAM Journal on Control*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 1192–1211, 1986.
- [24] A. F. Filippov, "Differential equations with discontinuous right hand sides," Translations of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 62, 1960.
- [25] K. A. Grasse, "Structure of the boundary of the attainable set in certain nonlinear systems," *Mathematical Systems Theory*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 57–77, 1985. r
- [26] K. A. Grasse and H. J. Sussmann, Nonlinear Controllability and Optimal Control. Dekker, New York, 1990, ch. Global controllability by nice controls, pp. 33–79.
- [27] O. Hajek, K. Loparo, and M. Fashoro, "Controllability properties of constrained linear systems," *Journal of Opt. Th. and Appl.*, vol. 73, no. 2, pp. 329–347, 1992.
- [28] M.K. Çamlibel, W.P.M.H. Heemels, and J.M. Schumacher. *Hybrid Systems: Computation and Control, LNCS 2993*, chapter On the controllability of bimodal piecewise linear systems, pages 250–264. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [29] W. Heemels, S. van Eijndhoven, and A. Stoorvogel, "Linear quadratic regulator problem with positive controls," *Int. J. Control*, vol. 70, no. 4, pp. 551–578, 1998.
- [30] T. Hu, L. Ma, and Z. Lin, "Stabilization of switched systems via composite quadratic functions," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 2571–2585, 2008.
- [31] J. Imura. Classification and stabilizability analysis of bimodal piecewise affine systems. Int. J. Robust and Nonlinear Control, 12(10):897–926, 2002.

- [32] J. Imura and A.J. van der Schaft. Characterization of well-posedness of piecewise linear systems. *IEEE Transaction on Automatic Control*, 45(9):1600–1619, 2000.
- [33] A. Isidori. Nonlinear Control Systems. Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- [34] M. Johansson and A. Rantzer, "Computation of piecewise quadratic Lyapunov functions for hybrid systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 555–559, 1998.
- [35] V. Jurdjevic and G. Sallet, "Controllability properties of affine systems," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 501–508, 1984.
- [36] V. Jurdjevic, *Geometric Control Theory*. Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [37] R. E. Kalman, "Contributions to the theory of optimal control," Boletin de la Sociedad Matematica Mexicana, vol. 5, pp. 102–119, 1960.
- [38] Kellett, Christopher M. and Andrew R. Teel, Weak converse Lyapunov theorems and control-Lyapunov functions. SIAM J. Contr. Optim 42(6), 1934–1959, 2004.
- [39] V. I. Korobov, "A geometric criterion of local controllability of dynamical systems in the presence of constraints on the control," *Differential Equations*, vol. 15, pp. 1136–1142, 1980.
- [40] M. Krastanov and V. Veliov, "On the controllability of switching linear systems," Automatica, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 663–668, 2005.
- [41] A. J. Krener, "Generalization of Chow's theorem and the bang-band theorem to nonlinear control problems," *SIAM Journal on Control*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 43–52, Feb. 1974.
- [42] Liberzon, D. and A. Agrachev, Lie-algebraic stability criteria for switched systems. SIAM J. Contr. Optim 40(1), 253–269, 2001.
- [43] E. Lee and L. Markus, Foundation of Optimal Control Theory. Jhon Wiley, New York, 1967.

- [44] Liberzon, D. and A. S. Morse, Basic problems in stability and design of switched systems. *IEEE Control Systems Magazine* 19(5), 59–70, 1999.
- [45] Liberzon, D., J. P. Hespanha and A. S. Morse, Stability of switched systems: a Lie-algebraic condition. Systems and Control Letters 37(3), 117– 122, 1999.
- [46] Liberzon, Daniel, Switching in Systems and Control. Volume in series Systems and Control: Foundations and Applications, Birkhauser, Boston, MA, 2003.
- [47] Lin, H. and P.J. Antsaklis, A necessary and sufficient condition for robust asymptotic stabilizability of continuous-time uncertain switched linear systems. In: Proc. of the 43rd IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, Bahamas. Vol. 4. pp. 3690–3695, 2004.
- [48] Lin, Hai and Panos J. Antsaklis, Stability and stabilizability of switched linear systems: A short survey of recent results. In: Proc. of the 13th IEEE Mediterranean Conference on Control and Automation, Limassol. pp. 24–29, 2005.
- [49] Lin, Hai and P.J. Antsaklis, A converse Lyapunov theorem for uncertain switched linear systems. In: Proc. of the European Control Conference. CDC-ECC '05, Sevilla. pp. 3291–3296, 2005.
- [50] Lin, Hai and P.J. Antsaklis, Switching stabilizability for continuous-time uncertain switched linear systems. In: *IEEE Trans. Autom. Contr.*, Vol. 52, No. 4, pp. 633–646, 2007.
- [51] Liu, Derong and Alexander Molchanov, Criteria for robust absolute stability of time-varying nonlinear continuous-time systems. *Automatica* 38(4), 627–637, 2003.
- [52] Molchanov, A. P. and Ye. S. Pyatnitskiy, Criteria of asymptotic stability of differential and difference inclusions encountered in control theory. *Systems Control Lett.* **13**(1), 59–64, 1989.
- [53] M. Pachter and D. Jacobson, "Control with a conic constraint set," Journal of Opt. Th. and Appl., vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 117–123, 1978.

- [54] Rifford, Ludovic, Semiconcave control-Lyapunov functions and stabilizing feedbacks. SIAM J. Contr. Optim 41(3), 659–681, 2002.
- [55] S. H. Saperstone and J. A. Yorke, "Controllability of linear oscillatory systems using positive controls," *SIAM Journal on Control*, vol. 9, no. 2, p. 253–262, 1971.
- [56] S. H. Saperstone, "Global controllability of linear systems using positive controls," SIAM Journal on Control, vol. 11, no. 3, 417–423, 1973.
- [57] W. E. Schmitendorf and B. Barmish, "Null controllability of linear systems with constrained controls," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 18, no. 4, 1980, 327-345.
- [58] C. Seatzu, D. Corona, A. Giua, and A. Bemporad, "Optimal control of continuous-time switched affine systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 726–741, 2006.
- [59] Smirnov, G. V., Weak asymptotic stability of differential inclusions. II. Avtomat. i Telemekh. (8), 56–63, 1990.
- [60] Smirnov, Georgi V., Stabilization by constrained controls, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 1616–1649, Sept. 1996.
- [61] Smirnov, Georgi V., Introduction to the theory of differential inclusions. Vol. 41 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society. Providence, RI, 2002.
- [62] E. Sontag and H. Sussmann, "Accessibility under sampling," in Proceedings of the 21st IEEE Conference on Decision. Control, Orlando, Florida, 1982.
- [63] E. Sontag, "Remarks on the preservation of various controllability properties under sampling," in *Mathematical tools and models for con*trol, systems analysis and signal processing, Vol. 3 (Toulouse/Paris, 1981/1982), ser. Travaux Rech. Coop. Programme 567, pp. 623–637, Paris: CNRS, 1983.
- [64] E. Sontag, "An approximation theorem in nonlinear sampling," in *Mathematical theory of networks and systems*, ser. Lecture Notes in Control and Inform. Sci. London, Springer, vol. 58, pp. 806–812, 1984.

- [65] E. Sontag, "Orbit theorems and sampling," in Algebraic and geometric methods in nonlinear control theory, ser. Math. Appl. Dordrecht: Reidel, vol. 29, pp. 441–483, 1986.
- [66] Sontag, E.D. and H.J. Sussmann, Nonsmooth control-Lyapunov functions. In: Proc. of the IEEE Conf. Decision and Control, New Orleans. pp. 2799–2805, 1995.
- [67] E. Sontag and Y. Qiao, "Further results on controllability of recurrent neural networks," Sys. Contr. Letters, vol. 36, pp. 121–129, 1999.
- [68] Z. Sun and S. Ge, "Sampling and control of switched linear systems," in Proceedings of the 41st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, Las Vegas, Nevada, USA, vol. 4, pp. 4413–4418, 2002.
- [69] Z. Sun, S. S. Ge, and T. H. Lee, "Controllability and reachability criteria for switched linear systems," *Automatica*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 775–786, 2003.
- [70] Sun, Z. and S. S. Ge., Switched Linear Systems. Control and Design. Springer, 2005.
- [71] S. I. Suslov, "Nonlinear bang-bang principle in R<sup>n</sup>," Mathematical Notes, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 518–523, 1991.
- [72] H. Sussmann, Some properties of vector field systems that are not altered by small perturbations, *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 20, pp. 292–315, 1976.
- [73] H. J. Sussmann, Reachability by means of nice controls, in *Proceedings* of 26th IEEE CDC, Los Angeles, CA, 1987, pp. 1368–1373.
- [74] H. J. Sussmann, "A bang-bang theorem with bound on the number of switchings," SIAM Journal on Control, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 629–651, 1979.
- [75] H. J. Sussmann. Local controllability and motion planning for some classes of systems with drift. In *Proceedings of 30st IEEE CDC*, pages 1110–1114, Brighton, England, 1991.
- [76] M. Stern and R. Heymann, "Controllability of linear systems with positive controls: Geometric considerations," *Journal of Math. Anal. and Appl.*, vol. 52, pp. 36–41, 1975.

- [77] G. Stikkel, J. Bokor, and Z. Szabó, "Necessary and sufficient condition for the controllability of switching linear hybrid systems," *Automatica*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 1093–1098, 2004.
- [78] S. Vakhrameev, "A bang-bang theorem with a finite number of switchings for nonlinear smooth control systems," J. Math. Sci., vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 2002–2016, 1997.
- [79] V. Veliov and M. Krastanov, "Controllability of piecewise linear systems," Sys. Contr. Letters, vol. 7, pp. 335–341, 1986.
- [80] M. Krastanov and V. Veliov, On the stabilizability of control constrained linear systems, in Numerical Methods and Applications: 5th International Conference, NMA 2002, Borovets, Bulgaria, August 20-24, 2002. Revised Papers Book Series Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Springer Berlin/Heidelberg, vol. 2542, pp. 238–245, 2003.
- [81] Wirth, F., A converse Lyapunov theorem for switched linear systems with dwell times. In: Proc. of the European Control Conference. CDC-ECC '05, Sevilla. pp. 4572–4577, 2005.
- [82] Wirth, F., A converse Lyapunov theorem for linear parameter-varying and linear switching systems. *SIAM J. Contr. Optim* 44(1), 210–239, 2005.
- [83] P. R. Wolenski, "The exponential formula for the reachable set of a Lipschitz differential inclusion," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 1148–1161, 1990.
- [84] W. M. Wonham, Linear Multivariable Control A Geometric Approach. Springer-Verlag, New York (Third Edition), 1985.
- [85] G. Xie and L. Wang, "Necessary and sufficient conditions for controllability of switched linear systems," in *American Control Conference*, 2002. Proceedings of the 2002, vol. 3, 8–10 May 2002, pp. 1897–1902.
- [86] G. Xie and L. Wang, Controllability Implies Stabilizability for Discrete-Time Switched Linear Systems. in *Hybrid Systems: Computation and Control. Book Series Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, Springer Berlin/Heidelberg, vol. 3414, pp. 667–682, 2005.

- [87] G. Xie and L. Wang, "Periodical stabilization of switched linear systems," *Journal Comput. Appl. Math.*, vol. 181, no. 1, pp. 176–187, 2005.
- [88] Z. Yang, "An algebraic approach towards the controllability of controlled switching linear hybrid systems," *Automatica*, vol. 38, pp. 1221–1228, 2002.

# List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Acronyms

**LTI** linear time invariant (system)

LTV linear time varying (system)

GAC globally asymptotically controllable (system)

GPLFS generalized piecewise linear feedback stabilizability

LMI linear matrix inequality

 ${\bf BMI}$  bilinear matrix inequality

 $\mathbbm{R}$  set of real numbers

 $\mathbb{R}_+$  set of nonnegative real numbers

 $\mathbb{Z}$  set of integers

 $\mathbb{N}$  set of nonnegative integers